IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE ex rel. KAMALA D. HARRIS, as Attorney General, etc.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PAC ANCHOR TRANSPORTATION, INC., et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Case Number 5 194388

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 28 2011.

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Five [Case No. B220966]



Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court for Los Angeles County Hon. Elizabeth A. White, Judge [Case No. BC397600]

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Neil S. Lerner (SBN 134031)

Arthur A. Severance (SBN 246691)

SANDS LERNER

12400 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1300

Los Angeles, CA 90603

Tel.:

(310) 979-9144

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can the State of California (the "State") enforce its employment laws against motor carriers by seeking an injunction under the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq., to compel them to treat individuals who drive trucks for them as employees, rather than independent contractors, or is such an action unconstitutional because it is preempted by the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA"), 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1)?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeal misapplied the tests for FAAAA preemption when it considered this issue. Pursuant to those tests, the State's action under the Unfair Competition Law against the defendant motor carriers is preempted if it either refers to or affects the carrier's prices, routes, or services. Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 504 U.S. 374, 384, 388-90 (1992); Rowe v. N.H. Motor Transport Ass'n, 552 U.S. 364, 370 (2008). Even if the effect is remote, the State's action is still preempted if it interferes with the forces of competition between motor carriers. Californians for Safe & Competitive Dump Truck Transp. v. Mendonca, 152 F.3d 1184, 1188 (9th Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1060 (1999). In addition, the Court of Appeal erred by rejecting the holding in Fitz-Gerald v. Skywest Airlines, Inc., 155 Cal. App. 4th 411, 423 (2007), reh'g denied, No. B187785, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1719 (Oct. 16, 2007), depublication denied, No. S158366, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 1056 (Jan. 30, 2008), that the preemptive language employed by the FAAAA preempts all actions under the Unfair Competition Law against motor carriers.

The Court should grant review because this issue does not solely affect the defendant motor carriers, it affects all motor carriers engaged in the interstate transportation of property ("motor carriers") in California. 49 U.S.C. §§ 13102(14) 13501, 13504, 14501(c). Moreover, because the

FAAAA employs the same preemptive language as the Airline Deregulation Act ("ADA"), 49 U.S.C. § 41713(b)(1); Rowe, 552 U.S. at 369, the issue also affects all air carriers operting in California.

This issue embodies and ongoing conflict between a State policy favoring the use of employee drivers over independent contractors and a Congressional policy against state interference with the forces of competition between motor carriers. Congress specifically adopted its policy and enacted the FAAAA to thwart an attempt by the State to impose its policy on motor carriers operating in California. H.R. Conf. Rep. 103-677 ("HRCR") at 87 (1993), reprinted in 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1715 ("USCCAN") at 1759 (1 Appx. at 270). Nevertheless, the State and its political subdivisions (collectively the "State") have repeatedly sought to substitute the State's policy for the Congressional policy ever since. Review is necessary to resolve this policy conflict conclusively and to give effect to the Congressional policy against state interference by protecting motor carriers operating in California from the State's continuing efforts to impose the use of employee drivers on them.

Furthermore, review is necessary to secure the uniform application of the law to air and motor carriers. Two published decisions by the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District explicitly disagree whether the preemption language employed by the FAAAA and the ADA preempts all actions under the Unfair Competition Law against air and motor carriers. In this matter, Division Five held that it does not. Opn. at 5. In *Fitz-Gerald v. Skywest Airlines, Inc.*, Division Six held that it does.

Because the decision by the Court of Appeal has created this split within the Court of Appeal, because this case involves an ongoing conflict between Congressional and State policies regarding motor carriers, and

The relevant excerpt is attached as Exhibit "B." Cal. R. Ct. § 805(e)(1)(C).

because the issue is of importance not only to the defendant motor carriers, but to all air and motor carriers operating in California, the Court should grant review of this issue of first impression.

BACKGROUND

The State filed a complaint against the defendant motor carriers alleging that they violated various California employment laws (Cal. Lab. Code §§ 226, 1194, 2802, 3700; Cal. Unemp. Ins. Code §§ 976, 976.6, 984, 13020; I.W.C. Wage Order 9-2001 §§ 4, 7) by treating drivers who drive trucks owned by one carrier and leased together with the drivers' services to the other as independent contractors, rather than employees. Opn. at 1; 1 Appx. at 10:20-11:9, 13:6-14:7.

The State did not assert a single cause of action under the state employment laws the carriers allegedly violated. Instead, it chose to assert a single cause of action under the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq., based on the alleged violation of those laws. The State's action alleges that the carriers "illegally lowered their costs of doing business," unfairly and unlawfully profited, and obtained an unfair advantage over their competitors by misclassifying the drivers, and seeks restitution, a civil penalty, and an injunction prohibiting the carriers from continuing to treat the drivers as independent contractors. Opn. at 1; 1 Appx. at 9:26-10:11, 14:8-12, 14:27-15:10.

The defendant motor carriers filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Opn. at 2. The trial court granted the motion, holding that the FAAAA preempts the State's action for three reasons:

1) Pursuant to Fitz-Gerald v. Skywest Airlines, Inc., 155 Cal. App. 4th 411, 423 (2007), reh'g denied, No. B187785, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1719 (Oct. 16, 2007), depublication denied, No. S158366, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 1056 (Jan. 30, 2008), the FAAAA preempts all actions under the Unfair Competition Law against motor carriers;

- 2) Under the first part of effect test for preemption set forth in Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 504 U.S. 374 (1992), the State's action logically has a forbidden direct and significant effect on the defendant motor carriers' prices, routes, and services; and
- 3) Even if that effect is remote, under the second part of the effect test as set forth in *Californians for Safe & Competitive Dump Truck Transp. v. Mendonca*, 152 F.3d 1184, 1188 (9th Cir. 1998), *cert. denied*, 526 U.S. 1060 (1999), the State's action is nevertheless preempted because it impermissibly interferes with the forces of competition between motor carriers by erecting an entry control that discourages the participation of independent contractor drivers in the market. 2 Appx. at 429:5-432:15; *see* Opn. at 2.

The State appealed the judgment, and on May 18, 2011, the Court of Appeal reversed it.² Opn. at 6. In its Opinion, the court rejected the reasoning of *Fitz-Gerald* and held the FAAAA does not preempt actions against motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law. Opn. at 5.

However, the court only applied the first part of the effect test set forth in *Morales* to the state employment laws that the defendant motor carriers allegedly violated. *Id.* at 5-6. The court implicitly found those laws to be generally applicable to all businesses, and therefore found that they only remotely affect the carriers' prices, routes, and services. *Id.* The court reasoned that, because the State's action under the Unfair Competition Law is based on the violation of laws which only remotely affect the carriers' prices, routes, and services, the State's action itself also only remotely affects them. *Id.* at 6. Therefore, the court held that the FAAAA does not preempt the State's action. *Id.*

² The Opinion of the Court of Appeal is attached as Exhibit "A." Cal. R. Ct. §§ 8.504(b)(5), (e)(1)(A).

The defendant motor carriers filed a petition for rehearing in which they asked the court to apply the reference test for preemption set forth in *Morales*, to apply the first part of the effect test from *Morales* directly to the State's action under the Unfair Competition Law, not just to the state employment laws that the carriers allegedly violated, and to apply the second part of the effect test set forth in *Californians*. In addition, the carriers asked the court to reexamine its position regarding *Fitz-Gerald* in light of the policies behind the Unfair Competition Law and the FAAAA, as well as the case law interpreting those laws. The Court of Appeal denied the petition on June 17, 2011. Cal. R. Ct. § 8.268(c).

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. REVIEW IS NECESSARY BECAUSE THE ISSUE INVOLVES A CONFLICT BETWEEN AN EXPRESS FEDERAL POLICY AGAINST STATE INTERFERENCE WITH THE FORCES OF COMPETITION BETWEEN MOTOR CARRIERS AND A STATE POLICY FAVORING THE USE OF EMPLOYEE DRIVERS OVER INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS.

Congress deregulated the trucking industry in 1980. Rowe v. N.H. Motor Transport Ass'n, 552 U.S. 364, 367 (2008). Since that time, the State has repeatedly attempted impose a state policy favoring the use of employee drivers over independent contractors on motor carriers operating in California. To that end, in 1993 the State enacted Assembly Bill 2015 ("AB 2015"), 1993 Cal. Stat. ch. 1226 § 4 (1993), codified at Cal. Pub. Util. Code §§ 4120 et seq. (1994), a law that exempted intermodal air and motor carriers from State regulation but denied the exemption to carriers using a large proportion of independent contractor drivers. See H.R. Conf. Rep. 103-677 ("HRCR") at 87 (1993), reprinted in 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 1715 ("USCCAN") at 1759 (1 Appx. at 270).

In direct response, in 1994 Congress intervened by enacting the preemptive provision of the FAAAA to strike down AB 2015. *Id.* To end

the patchwork of regulation created by AB 2015 and other laws enacted by the states after federal regulation of the trucking industry ended, Congress prohibited the State, the other states, and their political subdivisions from "enact[ing] or enforc[ing] any law, regulation, or other provision having the force and effect of law related to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier," with certain exceptions that are not applicable here. 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1); HRCR at 87, reprinted in USCCAN at 1759 (1 Appx. at 270).

In its findings regarding the FAAAA, Congress recognized that to foster competition between motor carriers, it had to leave carriers to themselves and to prevent the states from substituting their own policies for the competitive market forces Congress sought to promote:

[P]reemption legislation is in the public interest as well as necessary to facilitate interstate commerce. State economic regulation of motor carrier operation causes significant inefficiencies, increased costs, reduction of competition, inhibition of innovation and technology and curtails the expansion of markets . . . The sheer diversity of these regulatory schemes is a huge problem for national and regional carriers attempting to conduct a standard way of doing business.

HRCR at 87, reprinted in USCCAN at 1759 (1 Appx. at 270); Rowe, 552 U.S. at 372; Am. Airlines, Inc., v. Wolens, 513 U.S. 219, 227-28 (1995).

Congress singled out AB 2015 for scorn, indicating that it specifically intended to preempt the states from acting to discourage the use of independent contractor drivers where the states determined them to be undesirable and to encourage the use of independent contractor drivers where competitive forces determined them to be profitable. Despite this clear Congressional policy against state interference with competition in the trucking industry in general and against state interference with the use of independent contractor drivers specifically, the State has continued to

attempt to impose its policy favoring the use of employee drivers over independent contractors on motor carriers operating in California.

In the most recent attempt, the State Assembly introduced a bill designating all individuals that drive trucks for motor carriers operating in California ports as employees. A.B. 950, 2011-12 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Cal. 2011). At the same time, the Port of Los Angeles has been seeking to impose mandatory concession agreements on motor carriers operating there that will require the carriers to transition from the use of independent contractor drivers to employee drivers. *Am. Trucking Ass'ns v. City of Los Angeles*, 559 F.3d 1046, 1049 (9th Cir. 2009).

The State's action under the Unfair Competition Law against the defendant motor carriers and similar actions against other motor carriers operating in the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach are merely a pretext for another attempt to impose the State's policy disfavoring independent contractor drivers on motor carriers. By seeking an injunction to force the defendant motor carriers to treat the drivers under the current arrangement as employees, the State is attempting to force the carriers to use employee drivers rather than independent contractors. These ongoing efforts by the State to impose the very same state policy on motor carriers that prompted Congress to enact the FAAAA pose a federalism problem that the Court should review.

The U.S. Supreme Court has already determined that causes of action under state consumer protection laws such as the Unfair Competition Law are the sort of state interference with the forces of competition that Congress intended to preempt in enacting the preemptive language of the FAAAA. In *American Airlines, Inc., v. Wolens*, 513 U.S. 219, 227 (1995), a case interpreting the identical preemptive language employed by the ADA, the Court found that consumer protection laws present the potential for states to regulate carrier business practices by imposing state policies on

them and therefore held that causes of action against carriers under such laws are subject to preemption. Thus, the State's action not only interferes with the forces of competition between motor carriers by seeking to impose the very California policy that Congress intended to thwart by enacting the FAAAA, it does so using a cause of action that the U.S. Supreme Court has already deemed to be a vehicle for such interference.

The Court should grant review to conclusively resolve this conflict between the express Congressional policy against state interference with the forces of competition in the trucking industry and the State policy favoring the use of employee drivers and to protect air and motor carriers from further attempts by the State to use the Unfair Competition Law to substitute its policies for the forces of competition in their industries.

II. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE A SPLIT BETWEEN THE DIVISIONS OF THE SECOND DISTRICT OF THE COURT OF APPEAL REGARDING THE PREEMPTION OF CLAIMS AGAINST AIR AND MOTOR CARRIERS UNDER THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW.

Furthermore, the Court should grant review because the decision in this matter by Division Five of the Second Appellate District of the Court of Appeal explicitly disagrees with an earlier decision by Division Six regarding the preemption of actions against air and motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law.

In Fitz-Gerald v. Skywest Airlines, Inc., 155 Cal. App. 4th 411, 423 (2007), reh'g denied, No. B187785, 2007 Cal. App. LEXIS 1719 (Oct. 16, 2007), depublication denied, No. S158366, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 1056 (Jan. 30, 2008), Division Six held that the preemptive language of the ADA preempts all causes of action against air carriers under the Unfair Competition Law, including a cause of action based on the violation of California employment laws.

The decision by Division Six in Fitz-Gerald extends to motor carriers as well. When Congress enacted the preemptive provision of the FAAAA, it borrowed the provision's preemptive language from the comparable provision of the ADA. Compare 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1), with § 41713(b)(1); Rowe v. N.H. Motor Transport Ass'n, 552 U.S. 364, 370 (2008). Congress specifically intended the FAAAA to have the same preemptive effect regarding state action against motor carriers that the ADA has regarding state action against air carriers. HRCR at 83-85, reprinted in USCCAN at 1755-57 (1 Appx. at 266-68); Californians for Safe & Competitive Dump Truck Transp. v. Mendonca, 152 F.3d at 1188 nn.4-5; see Rowe, 552 U.S. at 370. Therefore, case law interpreting the ADA applies to the FAAAA and affects both air carriers and motor carriers. Similarly, case law interpreting the FAAAA applies to both air and motor carriers. See Tanen v. Southwest Airlines, Co., 187 Cal. App. 4th 1156, 1165-66 (2010); In re Korean Airlines, Co., No. 08-56385, 2011 WL 1458794 at *8 (9th Cir. Apr. 18, 2011).

Thus, by holding in *Fitz-Gerald* that the ADA preempts actions under the Unfair Competition Law against air carriers, Division Six also implicitly held that the FAAAA preempts actions against motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law. In this matter, Division Five expressly rejected that holding, stating it saw no reason for the FAAAA to preempt such actions against motor carriers. Opn. at 5. Because the decision by Division Five also extends to air carriers, Division Five has created a split between within the Second Appellate District of the Court of Appeal regarding whether actions against air carriers and motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law are preempted.

Furthermore, Division Five has created a potential split between state and federal courts in California on this issue. In *Blackwell v. Skywest Airlines, Inc.*, No. 06cv0307 DMS (AJB), 2008 WL 5103195 at *20 (S.D.

Cal. Dec. 3, 2008), the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California agreed with Division Six. Citing *Fitz-Gerald* with approval, the court found it was settled that the ADA preempts actions against air carriers under the Unfair Competition Law and held that such an action based on the violation of California employment laws was preempted. *Blackwell* indicates that federal courts confronting the preemption issue may favor the approach taken by Division Six in *Fitz-Gerald*. If they do, plaintiffs filing actions against air and motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law could very well obtain different results depending on whether they file the actions in state or federal court. Review is necessary to ensure the uniform application of the law in California.

CONCLUSION

The Court should review the issue of whether the FAAAA preempts the State's cause of action against the defendant motor carriers under the Unfair Competition Law not only to correct the errors committed by the Court of Appeal, but also to resolve a disagreement between the divisions of the Second Appellate District, to answer a question that affects all air and motor carriers operating in California, and to block the State's continuing efforts to substitute its policy favoring the use of employee drivers for the Congressional policy against such state interference with the forces of competition in the trucking industry.