In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA EX REL. KAMALA D. HARRIS, AS ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

PAC ANCHOR TRANSPORTATION, INC., A CORPORATION, AND ALFREDO BARAJAS, AŃ INDIVIDUAL,

Defendants and Respondents.

Case No. S194388

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 1 5 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B220966

Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC397600 Hon. Elizabeth A. White, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Pac Anchor Transportation, Inc. and Alfredo Barajas seek review of the Court of Appeal's decision that this action by the People of the State of California was not preempted by the express preemption provision of the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA"), 49 U.S.C. Section 14501(c)(1). The Court of Appeal's ruling reverses the judgment on the pleadings entered by the trial court. For the reasons set forth below, the petition should be denied.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Petitioners frame their issue in the following manner: "Can the State of California (the "State") enforce its employment laws against motor carriers by seeking an injunction under the Unfair Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq., to compel them to treat individuals who drive trucks for them as employees, rather than independent contractors, or is such an action unconstitutional because it is preempted by the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA"), 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1)?"

The petition erects a straw man. The Court of Appeals' holding accepts and rests upon the People's allegation that petitioners' drivers are, *in fact*, employees and are not independent contractors.

THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE NO GENUINE ISSUE OF LAW EXISTS THAT REQUIRES THIS COURT'S RESOLUTION.

Petitioners raise two grounds for review. First, petitioners assert that review is necessary to resolve a conflict between "an express federal policy against state interference with the forces of competition" and an imagined "state policy favoring the use of employee drivers over independent contractors." Second, petitioners assert that review is necessary to resolve a conflict between the underlying Court of Appeal decision in this case, and

an earlier decision by the same appellate district in *Fitz-Gerald v. SkyWest Airlines, Inc.* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 411. Both justifications fail.

Contrary to petitioners' claims, there is no fundamental conflict between state and federal policy regarding the use of independent contractors in the trucking industry. Petitioners misrepresent both the People's complaint and federal transportation policy as embodied in the FAAAA in order to construct a false dichotomy between a fictional state policy discriminating against independent contractors, and federal policy promoting free competition in the trucking industry.

In truth, far from embodying any discrimination against genuine independent contractors, the People's action simply seeks to impose generally applicable tax, insurance, and wage standards on petitioners *based on their use of employee drivers*. (See Appellant's Appendix ("Appx.") at Vol. I, p. 9, line 26 to p. 10, line 11, and p. 13, line 4 to p. 14, line 23.) The People have no objection whatsoever to the use of genuine independent contractors. The People's action simply alleges that petitioners' drivers are *in fact* employees, and that simply calling them "independent contractors" does not permit petitioners to ignore their obligations to comply with state wage and hour standards, to withhold and submit payroll taxes, and to purchase workers' compensation insurance. (See Appx., Vol. I, at 9:26-10:11, 13:4-14:23.)

Petitioners nevertheless suggest that the People's lawsuit is part of a concerted effort by agents of the State of California to impose a preference for the use of employee drivers on the trucking industry. To this end, petitioners cite to various actions by the Legislature and the City of Los Angeles that restrict the use of independent contractors as evidence of this conspiracy. (Petition at 6-7.) However, not only are these assertedly discriminatory actions irrelevant to the question whether the *Office of the Attorney General*, on behalf of the People, has any motive to discriminate

against the use of independent contractors, but more importantly, the existence of any such motive is irrelevant to the question whether the People's action – which focuses on use of *employee drivers* – is preempted by the FAAAA.

Defendants also mischaracterize Congress' intent by exaggerating the preemptive scope of the FAAAA. The statute only preempts state actions that are "related to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier." (49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1).) Thus, while Congress surely intended to preempt certain state regulation in order to promote competitive market forces in the trucking industry, it chose to do so by means of a specific provision that, while broad, is manifestly not intended as a blanket prohibition against all state regulation affecting competition in the trucking industry. (See e.g., Rowe v. New Hampshire Motor Transport Association (2008) 552 U.S. 364, 375 [FAAAA does not preempt state claims that affect prices, routes, or services in "too tenuous, remote, or peripheral a manner"].) As the Court of Appeal correctly concluded in this case, any relation between the tax, insurance, and wage standards the People seek to enforce, and the "prices, routes, or services" of Defendants is too remote and tenuous to support preemption. (Slip opn. at p. 10.)

CONCLUSION

The petition should be denied.